

1 **Section 1. Agricultural employment**

2 **176.011 DEFINITIONS.**

3 Subd. 18. **Weekly wage.** "Weekly wage" is arrived at by multiplying the daily wage by the number of
4 days and fractional days normally worked in the business of the employer for the employment involved.
5 If the employee normally works less than five days per week or works an irregular number of days per
6 week, the number of days normally worked shall be computed by dividing the total number of days in
7 which the employee actually performed any of the duties of employment in the last 26 weeks by the
8 number of weeks in which the employee actually performed such duties, provided that the weekly wage
9 for part time employment during a period of seasonal or temporary layoff shall be computed on the
10 number of days and fractional days normally worked in the business of the employer for the
11 employment involved. If, at the time of the injury, the employee was regularly employed by two or more
12 employers, the employee's days of work for all such employments shall be included in the computation
13 of weekly wage. An employee injured while engaged in agricultural employment fewer than 30 days in
14 a calendar year, and who is regularly employed by two or more employers, shall have their average
15 weekly wage calculated based on the agricultural wages at five times the employee's daily wage, or
16 based only on the employee's other employment, whichever is higher. Occasional overtime is not to be
17 considered in computing the weekly wage, but if overtime is regular or frequent throughout the year it
18 shall be taken into consideration. The maximum weekly compensation payable to an employee, or to the
19 employee's dependents in the event of death, shall not exceed 66-2/3 percent of the product of the daily
20 wage times the number of days normally worked, provided that the compensation payable for permanent
21 partial disability under section 176.101, subdivision 2a, and for permanent total disability under
22 section 176.101, subdivision 4, or death under section 176.111, shall not be computed on less than the
23 number of hours normally worked in the employment or industry in which the injury was sustained,
24 subject also to such maximums as are specifically otherwise provided.

25
26 **EFFECTIVE DATE. This section is effective for dates of injury on or after October 1, 2024.**

27 **Section 2. Attorney fees.**

28 **176.081 LEGAL SERVICES OR DISBURSEMENTS; LIEN; REVIEW.**

29 **Subdivision 1. Limitation of fees.**

30
31 (a) A fee for legal services of 20 percent of the first \$~~130,000~~ 275,000 of compensation awarded to the
32 employee is the maximum permissible fee and does not require approval by the commissioner,
33 compensation judge, or any other party. All fees, including fees for obtaining medical or rehabilitation
34 benefits, must be calculated according to the formula under this subdivision, except as otherwise
35 provided in clause (1) or (2).

36 (1) The contingent attorney fee for recovery of monetary benefits according to the formula in this
37 section is presumed to be adequate to cover recovery of medical and rehabilitation benefit or services
38 concurrently in dispute. Attorney fees for recovery of medical or rehabilitation benefits or services shall
39 be assessed against the employer or insurer only if the attorney establishes that the contingent fee is
40 inadequate to reasonably compensate the attorney for representing the employee in the medical or
41 rehabilitation dispute. In cases where the contingent fee is inadequate the employer or insurer is liable
42 for attorney fees based on the formula in this subdivision or in clause (2).

43 For the purposes of applying the formula where the employer or insurer is liable for attorney fees,
44 the amount of compensation awarded for obtaining disputed medical and rehabilitation benefits under

45 sections 176.102, 176.135, and 176.136 shall be the dollar value of the medical or rehabilitation benefit
46 awarded, where ascertainable.

47 (2) The maximum attorney fee for obtaining a change of doctor or qualified rehabilitation
48 consultant, or any other disputed medical or rehabilitation benefit for which a dollar value is not
49 reasonably ascertainable, is the amount charged in hourly fees for the representation or \$500, whichever
50 is less, to be paid by the employer or insurer.

51 (3) The fees for obtaining disputed medical or rehabilitation benefits are included in the ~~\$26,000~~
52 \$55,000 limit in paragraph (b). An attorney must concurrently file all outstanding disputed issues. An
53 attorney is not entitled to attorney fees for representation in any issue which could reasonably have been
54 addressed during the pendency of other issues for the same injury.

55 (b) All fees for legal services related to the same injury are cumulative and may not exceed ~~\$26,000~~
56 \$55,000. If multiple injuries are the subject of a dispute, the commissioner, compensation judge, or court
57 of appeals shall specify the attorney fee attributable to each injury.

58 (c) If the employer or the insurer or the defendant is given written notice of claims for legal services or
59 disbursements, the claim shall be a lien against the amount paid or payable as compensation. Subject to
60 the foregoing maximum amount for attorney fees, up to 20 percent of the first ~~\$130,000~~ 275,000 of
61 periodic compensation awarded to the employee may be withheld from the periodic payments for
62 attorney fees or disbursements if the payor of the funds clearly indicates on the check or draft issued to
63 the employee for payment the purpose of the withholding, the name of the attorney, the amount
64 withheld, and the gross amount of the compensation payment before withholding. In no case shall fees
65 be calculated on the basis of any undisputed portion of compensation awards. Allowable fees under this
66 chapter shall be available to an attorney who procures a benefit on behalf of the employee and be based
67 solely upon genuinely disputed claims or portions of claims, including disputes related to the payment of
68 rehabilitation benefits or to other aspects of a rehabilitation plan. The existence of a dispute is dependent
69 upon a disagreement after the employer or insurer has had adequate time and information to take a
70 position on liability. Neither the holding of a hearing nor the filing of an application for a hearing alone
71 may determine the existence of a dispute. Except where the employee is represented by an attorney in
72 other litigation pending at the department or at the Office of Administrative Hearings, a fee may not be
73 charged for services with respect to a medical or rehabilitation issue arising under
74 section 176.102, 176.135, or 176.136 performed before the attorney has filed with the commissioner and
75 served on the employer or insurer and the attorney representing the employer or insurer, if any, a request
76 for certification of dispute containing the name of the employer and its insurer, the date of the injury,
77 and a description of the benefits claimed, and the department certifies that there is a dispute and that it
78 has tried to resolve the dispute. If within 30 days of the filing of the request the department has not
79 issued a determination of whether a dispute exists, the dispute shall be certified if all of the following
80 apply:

81 (1) the insurer has not approved the requested benefit;

82 (2) the employee, the employee's attorney, or the employee's treating provider has submitted any
83 and all additional information requested by the insurer necessary to determine whether the requested
84 benefit is disputed or approved; and

85 (3) the insurer has had at least seven calendar days to review any additional information submitted.

86 In cases of nonemergency surgery, if the employer or insurer has requested a second opinion under
87 section 176.135, subdivision 1a, or an examination under section 176.155, subdivision 1, a dispute shall

88 be certified if 45 days have passed following a written request for an examination or second opinion and
89 the conditions in clauses (1) to (3) have been met.

90 (d) An attorney who is claiming legal fees for representing an employee in a workers' compensation
91 matter shall file a statement of attorney fees with the ~~commissioner or compensation judge before whom~~
92 ~~the matter was heard~~ office. A copy of the signed retainer agreement shall also be filed. The employee,
93 employer or insurer, and the attorney representing the employer or insurer, if any, shall receive a copy of
94 the statement of attorney fees. The statement shall be on a form prescribed by the commissioner and
95 shall report the number of hours spent on the case.

96 (e) Employers and insurers may not pay attorney fees or wages for legal services of more than \$~~26,000~~
97 55,000 per case.

98 (f) An attorney must file a statement of attorney fees within 12 months of the date the attorney has
99 submitted the written notice specified in paragraph (c). If the attorney has not filed a statement of
100 attorney fees within the 12 months, the attorney must send a renewed notice of lien to the insurer. If 12
101 months have elapsed since the last notice of lien has been received by the insurer and no statement of
102 attorney fees has been filed, the insurer must release the withheld money to the employee, except that
103 before releasing the money to the employee, the insurer must give the attorney 30 days' written notice of
104 the pending release. The insurer must not release the money if the attorney files a statement of attorney
105 fees within the 30 days.

106 **EFFECTIVE DATE. This section is effective for dates of injury on or after October 1, 2024.**

107 **Section 3. Maximum weekly compensation.**

108 **176.101 COMPENSATION SCHEDULE.**

109 **Subdivision 1. Temporary total disability.**

110

111 (a) For injury producing temporary total disability, the compensation is 66-2/3 percent of the weekly
112 wage at the time of injury.

113 (b)(1) Commencing on October 1, ~~2013-2024~~, and each October 1 thereafter, the maximum weekly
114 compensation payable is ~~102-108~~ percent of the statewide average weekly wage for the period ending
115 December 31 of the preceding year.

116 (2) The Workers' Compensation Advisory Council may consider adjustment increases and make
117 recommendations to the legislature.

118 **EFFECTIVE DATE. This section is effective for dates of injury on or after October 1, 2024.**

119 **Section 4. Rehabilitation discontinuance.**

120 **176.102 REHABILITATION.**

121 **Subd. 13. Discontinuance.**

122

123 (a) All benefits payable under chapter 176 may, after a determination and order by the commissioner or
124 compensation judge, be discontinued or forfeited for any time during which the employee refuses to
125 submit to any reasonable examinations and evaluative procedures ordered by the commissioner or
126 compensation judge to determine the need for and details of a plan of rehabilitation, or refuses to
127 participate in rehabilitation evaluation as required by this section or does not make a good faith

128 effort to participate in a rehabilitation plan. A discontinuance under this section is governed by
129 sections 176.238 and 176.239.

130 (b) Once the employer or insurer has accepted liability for a claim and a rehabilitation plan has been
131 approved, the employer or insurer may not discontinue payment of rehabilitation services until
132 notice has been filed with the commissioner and served on the qualified rehabilitation consultant, the
133 employee, and the attorney representing the employee, if any. The notice shall state the date of
134 intended discontinuance and set forth a statement of facts clearly indicating the reason for the action.
135 Copies of whatever medical reports or other written reports in the employer's possession which are
136 relied on for the discontinuance shall be attached to the notice.

137 **EFFECTIVE DATE. This section is effective August 1, 2024.**

138 **Section 5. Electronic medical records penalty.**

139 **176.135 TREATMENT; APPLIANCES; SUPPLIES.**

140 **Subd. 7. Medical bills and records.**

141 (a) Health care providers shall submit to the insurer an itemized statement of charges in the standard
142 electronic transaction format when required by section 62J.536 or, if there is no prescribed standard
143 electronic transaction format, on a billing form prescribed by the commissioner. Health care providers
144 shall also submit copies of medical records or reports that substantiate the nature of the charge and its
145 relationship to the work injury. Pursuant to Minnesota Rules, part 5219.0300, health care providers may
146 charge for copies of any records or reports that are in existence and directly relate to the items for which
147 payment is sought under this chapter. The commissioner shall adopt, by rule, a schedule of reasonable
148 charges by rule that will apply to charges not covered by paragraphs (d) and (e).

149 A health care provider shall not collect, attempt to collect, refer a bill for collection, or commence an
150 action for collection against the employee, employer, or any other party until the information required
151 by this section has been furnished.

152 A United States government facility rendering health care services to veterans is not subject to the
153 uniform billing form requirements of this subdivision.

154 (b) For medical services provided under this section, the codes from the International Classification of
155 Diseases, Tenth Edition, Clinical Modification/Procedure Coding System (ICD-10), must be used to
156 report medical diagnoses and hospital inpatient procedures when required by the United States
157 Department of Health and Human Services for federal programs. The commissioner must replace the
158 codes from the International Classification of Diseases, Ninth Edition, Clinical Modification/Procedure
159 Coding System (ICD-9), with equivalent ICD-10 codes wherever the ICD-9 codes appear in rules
160 adopted under this chapter. The commissioner must use the General Equivalence Mappings established
161 by the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services to replace the ICD-9 diagnostic codes with ICD-10
162 codes in the rules.

163 (c) The commissioner shall amend rules adopted under this chapter as necessary to implement the ICD-
164 10 coding system in paragraph (b). The amendments shall be adopted by giving notice in the State
165 Register according to the procedures in section 14.386, paragraph (a). The amended rules are not subject
166 to expiration under section 14.386, paragraph (b).

167 (d) The requirements in this paragraph and paragraph (e) apply to each request for copies of existing
 168 medical records fulfilled by a health care provider or their agent that are required to be maintained in
 169 electronic format by state or federal law.

170 (1) If an authorized requestor of copies of medical records submits a written request for advance
 171 notice of the cost of the copies requested, the health care provider must notify the requestor of
 172 the estimated cost before sending the copies. If the requestor approves the cost and copies of the
 173 records are provided, the payment is the applicable fee under paragraph (e). If the requestor does
 174 not pay for the records, the health care provider may charge a fee, which must not exceed \$10.

175 (2) A health care provider shall not require prepayment for the cost of copies of medical records
 176 under this paragraph or Minnesota Rules, chapter 5219, unless there is an outstanding past-due
 177 invoice for the requestor concerning a previous request for records from the health care provider.

178 (3) A health care provider shall provide copies of medical records in electronic format.

179 (4) The charges under paragraph (e) include any fee for retrieval, download, or other delivery of
 180 records.

181 (e) For any copies of electronic records provided under paragraph (d), a health care provider or their
 182 agent may not charge more than a total of:

183 (1) \$10 if there are no records available;

184 (2) \$30 for copies of records of up to 25 pages;

185 (3) \$50 for copies of records of up to 100 pages;

186 (4) \$50, plus an additional 20 cents per page for pages 101 and above; or

187 (5) \$500 for any request.

188 (f) The commissioner may assess a penalty against a health care provider for each violation of this
 189 section by the health care provider or their agent of \$500, payable to the assigned risk safety account.

190 **EFFECTIVE DATE. This section is effective August 1, 2024.**

191 **Section 6. Remodeling awards.**

192 **176.137 REMODELING OF RESIDENCE; DISABLED EMPLOYEES.**

193
 194 Subd. 2.**Cost.** The pecuniary liability of an employer for remodeling or alteration required by this
 195 section is limited to prevailing costs in the community for remodeling or alteration of that type. The
 196 costs of obtaining the architectural certification and supervision required by this section, or the costs of
 197 obtaining approval by a certified building official or certified accessibility specialist under subdivision 4
 198 (b)(3), are included in the ~~\$75,000~~ 150,000 limit in subdivision 5.

199
 200 Subd. 5.**Limitation.** An employee is limited to ~~\$75,000~~ 150,000 under this section for each personal
 201 injury.

202 **EFFECTIVE DATE. This section is effective for dates of injury on or after October 1, 2024.**

203 **Section 7. Notice of discontinuance.**

204
205 **176.238 NOTICE OF DISCONTINUANCE OF COMPENSATION.**

206 Subdivision 1. **Necessity for notice and showing; contents.** Except as provided in section 176.221,
207 subdivision 1, once the employer or insurer has commenced payment of benefits, the employer may not
208 discontinue payment of compensation until it provides the employee with notice in writing of intention
209 to do so. A copy of the notice shall be filed with the division by the employer or insurer. The notice to
210 the employee and the copy to the division shall state the date of intended discontinuance and set forth a
211 statement of facts clearly indicating the reason for the action. Copies of whatever medical reports or
212 other written reports in the employer's possession which are relied on for the discontinuance shall be
213 attached to the notice.

214
215 Subd. 2. **Employer's Liability for compensation; discontinuance.**

216 (a) If the reason for discontinuance is that the employee has returned to work, temporary total
217 compensation may be discontinued effective the day the employee returned to work. Written notice shall
218 be served on the employee and filed with the division within 14 days of the date the ~~insurer or self-~~
219 ~~insured~~ employer or insurer has notice that the employee has returned to work.

220 (b) If the reason for the discontinuance is for other than that the employee has returned to work, the
221 liability of the employer or insurer to make payments of compensation continues until the copy of the
222 notice and reports have been filed with the division. When the division has received a copy of the notice
223 of discontinuance, the statement of facts and available medical reports, the duty of the employer or
224 insurer to pay compensation is suspended, except as provided in the following subdivisions and in
225 section 176.239.

226 Subd. 3. **Interim administrative decision.** An employee may request the ~~commissioner~~ office to
227 schedule an administrative discontinuance conference to obtain an expedited interim decision
228 concerning the discontinuance of compensation. Procedures relating to discontinuance conferences are
229 set forth in section 176.239.

230
231 Subd. 4. **Objection to discontinuance.** An employee may serve on the employer and insurer and file
232 with the ~~commissioner~~ office an objection to discontinuance if:

233 (1) the employee elects not to request an administrative conference under section 176.239;

234 (2) if the employee fails to timely proceed under that section;

235 (3) if the discontinuance is not governed by that section; or

236 (4) if the employee disagrees with the interim administrative decision issued under that section.

237 Within ten calendar days after receipt of an objection to discontinuance, the ~~commissioner~~ office shall
238 ~~refer-schedule~~ the matter ~~to the office~~ for a de novo hearing before a compensation judge to determine
239 the right of the employee to further compensation.

240 Subd. 5. **Petition to discontinue.** Instead of filing a notice of discontinuance, an employer or insurer
241 may serve on the employee and file with the ~~commissioner~~ office a petition to discontinue
242 compensation. A petition to discontinue compensation may also be used when the employer or insurer
243 disagrees with the interim administrative decision under section 176.239. Within ten calendar days after
244 receipt of a petition to discontinue, the ~~commissioner~~ office shall ~~refer-schedule~~ the matter ~~to the office~~
245 for a de novo hearing before a compensation judge to determine the right of the employer or insurer to
246 discontinue compensation.

247 The petition shall include copies of medical reports or other written reports or evidence in the
248 possession of the employer or insurer bearing on the physical condition or other present status of the
249 employee which relate to the proposed discontinuance. The employer or insurer shall continue payment
250 of compensation until the filing of the decision of the compensation judge and thereafter as the
251 compensation judge, court of appeals, or the supreme court directs, unless, during the interim,
252 occurrences arise justifying the filing of a notice under subdivision 1 or 2 and the discontinuance is
253 permitted by the commissioner's order or no conference under section 176.239 is requested.

254 **Subd. 6. Expedited hearing before compensation judge.**

255 (a) A hearing before a compensation judge shall be held within 60 calendar days after the ~~office~~
256 ~~receives the file from the commissioner~~ filing of the objection to discontinue or petition to discontinue
257 if:

258 (1) an objection to discontinuance has been filed under subdivision 4 within 60 calendar days after
259 the notice of discontinuance was filed and where no administrative conference has been held;

260 (2) an objection to discontinuance has been filed under subdivision 4 within 60 calendar days after
261 an interim administrative decision under this section has been issued;

262 (3) a petition to discontinue has been filed by the employer or insurer in lieu of filing a notice of
263 discontinuance; or

264 (4) a petition to discontinue has been filed within 60 calendar days after the interim administrative
265 decision under this section has been issued.

266 (b) If the petition or objection is filed later than the deadlines listed above, the expedited procedures in
267 this section apply only where the employee is unemployed at the time of filing the objection and shows,
268 to the satisfaction of the chief administrative law judge, by sworn affidavit, that the failure to file the
269 objection within the deadlines was due to some infirmity or incapacity of the employee or to
270 circumstances that are beyond the employee's control. The hearing shall be limited to the issues raised
271 by the notice or petition unless all parties agree to expanding the issues. If the issues are expanded, the
272 time limits for hearing and issuance of a decision by the compensation judge under this subdivision shall
273 not apply.

274 (c) Once a hearing date has been set, a continuance of the hearing date will be granted only under the
275 following circumstances:

276 (1) the employer or insurer has agreed, in writing, to a continuation of the payment of benefits
277 pending the outcome of the hearing; or

278 (2) the employee has agreed, in a document signed by the employee, that benefits may be
279 discontinued pending the outcome of the hearing.

280 (d) Absent a clear showing of surprise at the hearing or the unexpected unavailability of a crucial
281 witness, all evidence must be introduced at the hearing. If it is necessary to accept additional evidence or
282 testimony after the scheduled hearing date, it must be submitted no later than 14 days following the
283 hearing, unless the compensation judge, for good cause, determines otherwise.

284 (e) When a compensation judge issued the interim administrative decision, the de novo hearing under
285 paragraph (a), clauses (2) and (4), must be held before a compensation judge other than the
286 compensation judge who presided over the administrative conference. The compensation judge shall
287 issue a decision pursuant to this subdivision within 30 days following the close of the hearing record.

288 **Subd. 7. Order of compensation judge.** If the order of the compensation judge confirms a
289 discontinuance of compensation, the service and filing of the order relieves the employer and insurer

290 from further liability for compensation subject to the right of review provided by this chapter, and to the
 291 right of the compensation judge to set aside the order at any time prior to the review and to grant a new
 292 hearing pursuant to this chapter. Once an appeal to the Workers' Compensation Court of Appeals is
 293 filed, a compensation judge may not set aside the order. In any appeal from the compensation judge's
 294 decision under this section, the court of appeals shall conclude any oral arguments by the parties within
 295 60 days following certification of the record from the office.

296
 297 Subd. 8. **Notice forms.** Notices under this section shall be on forms prescribed by the commissioner.
 298

299 Subd. 9. **Service on attorney.** If the employee has been presently represented by an attorney for the
 300 same injury, all notices required by this section shall also be served on the last attorney of record.
 301

302 Subd. 10. **Fines; violation.** An employer or insurer who violates requirements set forth in this section
 303 or section 176.239 is subject to a fine of up to \$1,000-2,500 for each violation payable to the
 304 commissioner for deposit in the assigned risk safety account.
 305

306 Subd. 11. **Application of section.** This section shall not apply to those employees who have been
 307 adjudicated permanently totally disabled, or to those employees who have been administratively
 308 determined pursuant to division rules to be permanently totally disabled.
 309

310 **EFFECTIVE DATE. This section is effective August 1, 2024.**

311 **Section 8. Filing an answer to petition.**

312 313 **176.321 ANSWER TO PETITION.**

314 Subdivision 1. **Filing, service.** Within 20-30 days after service of the petition, an adverse party shall
 315 serve and file an answer to the petition. The party shall serve a copy of the answer on the petitioner or
 316 the petitioner's attorney.
 317

318 **176.341 HEARING ON PETITION.**

319 Subd. 6. **Significant financial hardship; expedited hearings.** An employee may file a request for an
 320 expedited hearing which must be granted upon a showing of significant financial hardship. In
 321 determining whether a significant financial hardship exists, consideration shall be given to whether the
 322 employee is presently employed, the employee's income from all sources, the nature and extent of the
 323 employee's expenses and debts, whether the employee is the sole support of any dependents, whether
 324 either foreclosure of homestead property or repossession of necessary personal property is imminent,
 325 and any other matters which have a direct bearing on the employee's ability to provide food, clothing,
 326 and shelter for the employee and any dependents.

327 A request for an expedited hearing must be accompanied by a sworn affidavit of the employee
 328 providing facts necessary to satisfy the criteria for a significant financial hardship. The request may be
 329 made at the time a claim petition is filed or any time thereafter. Unless the employer objects to the
 330 request in the answer to the claim petition or within 20-30 calendar days of the filing of a request made
 331 subsequent to the filing of the claim petition, the affidavit is a sufficient showing of significant financial
 332 hardship.

333 If a request for an expedited hearing has been served and filed, the ~~commissioner~~ or compensation
 334 judge shall ~~issue an order granting or denying~~ the request, provided that where the parties agree that

335 significant financial hardship exists or no objection to the request is timely filed, the request is
336 automatically granted ~~and the compensation judge or commissioner need not issue an order~~. If it is
337 denied, the matter will be returned to the regular calendar of cases and the request for an expedited
338 hearing may be renewed at a settlement conference. ~~If no objection has been timely filed or if the~~
339 ~~request is granted, the commissioner shall immediately refer the matter to the office to commence~~
340 ~~prehearing procedures.~~

341 ~~The calendar judge shall issue a prehearing order and notice of the date, time, and place for a~~
342 ~~prehearing conference which shall be set for no later than 45 days following the filing of the affidavit of~~
343 ~~significant financial hardship. The prehearing order shall require the parties to serve and file prehearing~~
344 ~~statements no later than five working days prior to the date set for the prehearing conference. The~~
345 ~~prehearing statements shall include those items listed in the joint rules of the division and the office~~
346 ~~which the calendar judge deems appropriate.~~

347 ~~Following any prehearing conference and absent an agreement or stipulation from the parties, the~~
348 ~~commissioner or compensation judge shall issue an order establishing deadlines for the parties to~~
349 ~~complete their preparation for hearing and, after consultation with the calendar judge, establishing the~~
350 ~~date, time, and place for a hearing.~~

351 **EFFECTIVE DATE. This section is effective August 1, 2024.**